STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Richland County

Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

**Nov 12 2020**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

VENABLE D. MITCHELL,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH  
CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000755

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

JASON G. SOPER

295 Seven Farms Drive, Suite C-298  
Charleston, South Carolina 29492  
(843) 554-1000

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether Petitioner's guilty plea was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made, when plea counsel, failed to adequately object to or challenge the process the State used to setup a lineup for identification of the Petitioner. It is Petitioner's position that defense counsel's decision to not object and/or challenge the State's lineup prejudiced his case. Furthermore, that the evidence the police used to arrest Petitioner was insufficient and therefore his arrest was unconstitutional.

Whether Petitioner's guilty plea was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made when plea counsel, failed to adequately communicate with and advise Petitioner of the state's evidence against him. Trial counsel failed to provide Applicant with a full copy of the Rule 5 materials received from the Richland County Solicitor's Office until after Petitioner pled guilty on March 20<sup>th</sup>, 2017. The Applicant was not properly advised concerning the prosecution's evidence against the Petitioner or potential defenses he had waived by pleading guilty.

Whether Petitioner's guilty plea was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made when plea counsel pressured Petitioner's mother to convince Petitioner to plead guilty out of fear of potentially losing her son for thirty years.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 29, 2015 the victim, who lived in the house with his parents, was in his bedroom lying down and watching television when he heard a knock. He looked through the blinds out of the window and allegedly saw the Petitioner. The victim allegedly saw the Petitioner raise a shotgun and shoot him in the face. He then screamed for help and his parents found him on the floor of the home. They called nine one one (911) and he was rushed to the hospital with life threatening injuries. App. 15, l. 25, 16, l. 1-6.

A Richland County grand jury indicted Petitioner on April 13, 2016 for attempted murder and discharging firearms into a dwelling. App. 170-173. On March 20, 2017, Petitioner pled guilty to attempted murder before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon, where he pleaded guilty as indicted pursuant to Alford v. North Carolina, 400 U.S. 25 (1970). Assistant Solicitor M. Walker represented the state. Rhodes Bailey represented Petitioner. Petitioner was sentenced to ten years. Petitioner did not appeal his conviction or sentence. App. 3-19.

On August 18, 2015 the victim's mother, Mozell Jones, signed a City of Columbia Police Department photo line-up sheet. She identified Venable Mitchell as the shooter. App. 52. This is despite the fact that the Supplemental Incident Report approved by Officer Christopher Morris states:

Mr. Jones stated that while himself, wife and son were asleep he heard several loud bangs and looked out the front window thinking it was a power pole transporter that blew-up at that time Mr. Udensi (victim) opened his bedroom door and yelled for help then falling to the ground Mr. Jones called 911.

App. 48.

A few paragraphs later the report states:

Mr. Jones stated that he did not see or hear anyone prior or after the shooting, Mr. Jones is unaware of any unusual or suspicious activity from Mr. Udensi recently, but stated that there have been several fights involving Mr. Udensi and others in the past at or near this location with one prior incident involving a gun and shots being fired.

App. 48.

At the hearing plea counsel stated that the State never was contending that anyone other than the victim actually saw the shooting and could identify Mr. Mitchell. App. 44, l. 2-4. Although clearing that up helped one potential issue, it still leaves the issues of the victim's writing being illegible and how or why the victim's mother decided on the Petitioner as the perpetrator. Plea counsel stated a potential defense was the fact that victim's overzealous mother may have coached him and led him to picking the wrong person. App. 97 l. 12-15. The victim's mother had motive to suggest the Petitioner. Plea counsel admits himself that:

I felt like he (victim) could have been susceptible to coaching, absolutely, but that isn't really about ID practices.

App. 134 l. 15-18.

Therefore, Petitioner believes the evidence the police used to arrest Petitioner was insufficient and therefore his arrest was unconstitutional.

The Petitioner has been incarcerated since the time he was arrested on August 19, 2015. Therefore, all discovery needed to be mailed or delivered to Petitioner at the Richland County Detention Center for Petitioner to review it. This was not done prior to Petitioner pleading guilty. Plea counsel mailed Petitioner a letter dated May 4, 2017. App. 32. Within the letter, plea counsel stated that he mailed Petitioner the discovery on March 29, 2017. App. 32. This was nine (9) days after the Petitioner pled guilty. Therefore, there was evidence that Petitioner did not see until after he pled guilty. The Petitioner was not properly advised concerning the

prosecution's evidence against the Petitioner or potential defenses he had waived by pleading guilty.

Within the Rule 5 material the Petitioner received from plea counsel, after his conviction, there was evidence that he had not seen before and had not been made aware of. In a letter to the Petitioner from plea counsel dated May 4, 2017. App. 32. plea counsel states that he "was never provided discs from street cameras on South Ott or Rosewood. I was only showed a few black and white snapshots from the cameras. App. 32. However, in an email dated March 15, 2017 at 3:18 PM, from the Assistant Solicitor, she provides ten (10) attachments that were e-mailed to plea counsel. The camera logs she provides are from cameras on streets near where the incident occurred. App. 35. The court found that no videos ever existed. App. 160. Furthermore, the court found the Petitioner's testimony was not credible, while finding plea counsel's testimony was credible. App. 160. Although the court found that the videos did not exist, the Petitioner did submit an exhibit 1B with this Application for PCR. App. 34-35. The email reflects that either pictures or videos were taken, but Petitioner testified he was not able to see them. If Petitioner been made aware of this evidence, he would not have pled guilty. The Petitioner's plea cannot be considered knowing and voluntary based on his lack of knowledge of the material evidence that was in his attorney's possession and in the prosecutor's possession. Gibson vs. State 334 S.C. 523

Moreover, there were cell phone records within the Rule 5 material that was provided to the Petitioner, after his conviction. The victim received a text message on June 29, 2015 at 8:56 PM that stated:

"Hey chu be careful out there. ...it's some strange things going on put here... watch your surroundings. ...love ya."

App. 39 (text number 597).

This message was received from someone named Tab whose number was 843.276.0383.

Therefore, there was evidence that the person who sent this message to the victim potentially had knowledge of someone who had a motive to shoot the victim. Plea counsel was asked if he was able to follow-up on the text messages that were found. Plea counsel testified that

A lot of times what you'll do is there were search engines and things that you can – that you can check them. Think I did go through the numbers and try to find if they were registered to anybody anymore... a lot of these numbers were temporary or weren't, you know, weren't attributed to anybody.

App. 119, l. 24-25, 120 l. 1-6.

Plea counsel testified that the numbers may not be attributed to anyone, but the number listed within Exhibit 2 of Applicants Amended PCR Application reflects that there was a name to go along with the number. The name was “tab”. App. 39 (text number 597). It is Petitioner’s position that this information provides a defense that Petitioner was not aware of and if the Petitioner was made aware of this evidence, he would not have pled guilty. The Petitioner’s plea cannot be considered knowing and voluntary based on his lack of knowledge of the material evidence that was in his attorney’s possession and in the prosecutor’s possession. Gibson vs. State 334 S.C. 523

Furthermore, the Petitioner was not made aware of the progress the hired investigators made throughout the course of their investigations. See App. 40-44. This information was within plea counsel’s file. Within the file there was information that reflected investigator’s stopped pursuing leads due to lack of funds. Pictures of the crime scene that were not taken due to lack of funds. An alibi witness that was not contacted due to the investigator not being on the clock. Petitioner was unaware of all of this prior to his plea. App. 40-44.

Plea counsel testified that:

... every time we got someone, Lee (private investigator) would try and talk to them, and she either couldn't find them or they would say, no, I don't know anything about this; I can't help you. And that was sort of inconsistent.

App. 71 l. 10-14.

Although plea counsel explained what went on to the best of his memory, the issue is that the Petitioner was unaware of the private investigators results and that some of the investigations stopped due to lack of funds or being unable to find someone. Petitioners plea cannot be considered knowing and voluntary based on his lack of knowledge of the material evidence that was in his attorney's possession and in the prosecutor's possession. Gibson vs. State 334 S.C. 523

Finally, Petitioner alleges that plea counsel pressured and scared Petitioner's mother to have her convince her son, the Petitioner, to plead guilty on March 20, 2017. This is despite Petitioner's desire to go to trial up until that point. The Petitioner had always maintained his innocence, including at the plea hearing where he pled guilty under Alford. Petitioner's mother, Grace Mitchell, testified at the hearing and stated:

Q- So after speaking with his attorney, Mr. Bailey, you felt scared or threatened –

A- Yes. And I begged him to take the plea because I told him, I said, well, you take the plea. When you get out, there won't even be (indiscernible) year, because I was afraid he was going to get the 30 years, because I felt like Mr. Bailey was trying to put this case together within a week.

Q- Do you feel that he would have pled guilty if you did not –

A- No, no.

Q- Do you think that (indiscernible)? I mean, you speaking with him, is that why he pled guilty?

A- Because I begged him – I cried, and I begged him to take the plea because I was afraid for his life.

App. 88, l. 1-16.

When asked if the Petitioner was adamant about going to trial, Plea counsel testified:

Yeah, from most of my representation of him, he was adamant about it, and I didn't expect it to be a plea...

App. 122, l. 17-18.

Therefore, Petitioner's plea was not entered into voluntarily due to the pressure plea counsel placed on Petitioner's mother to convince Petitioner to plead guilty out of fear of losing her son for thirty years.

By order filed April 8, 2020, the PCR judge denied Petitioner relief. The judge found that Petitioner did not establish any constitutional violations or deprivations which would require this Court to grant relief. The Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief must be denied and dismissed with prejudice. App. 168-169.

Because Petitioner's guilty plea was not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made since plea counsel failed to adequately communicate with and advise Petitioner of the state's evidence against him this petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

Petitioner's guilty plea was not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made when plea counsel, failed to adequately communicate with and advise Petitioner of the state's evidence against him. Petitioner's guilty plea was not knowing, intelligently, and voluntarily made when plea counsel pressured and scared Petitioner's mother into having her convince her son, the Petitioner, to plead guilty despite the fact that he wanted his case to go to trial. Petitioner's guilty plea was not knowingly, intelligently made when plea counsel failed to object to or challenge the process by which Petitioner was identified and subsequently arrested.

Petitioner's guilty plea was not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made since plea counsel failed to adequately advise Petitioner of the state's evidence against him. This is significant because Petitioner's plea cannot be considered knowing and voluntary based on his lack of knowledge of the material evidence that was in his attorney's possession and in the prosecutor's possession. Gibson vs. State 334 S.C. 523. Petitioner was prejudiced by this.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Id. At 686; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

The United States Supreme Court has established a two-prong test to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. In the context of a guilty plea, a petitioner must show that counsel's performance was deficient, and "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58-59 (1985); Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 97, 535 S.E.2d 926, 927 (2000); Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 115, 531 S.E.2d 367, 370 (1997); Rayford v. State, 314 S.C. 46, 48, 443 S.E.2d 805, 806 (1994). This Court has held that a "defendant's undisputed testimony that he would not have pled guilty but for trial counsel's advice is sufficient to prove that defendant would not have pled guilty." Smith v. State, 369 S.C. 135, 631 S.E. 2d 260 (2006) (citing Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 97-98, 535 S.E.2d 926, 927 (2000); Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 543, 402 S.E.2d 484, 485-486 (1991)).

"In determining guilty plea issues, it is proper to consider the guilty plea transcript as well as evidence at the PCR hearing." Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007). "Specifically, the voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of a specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea, and also from the record of the PCR hearing." Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 33, 528 S.E.2d 418, 420 (2000). "The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is 'whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to defeat.'" Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985) (quoting North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 31 (1970)).

Petitioner did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily plead guilty due to counsel's deficient performance. Petitioner pled guilty because he was unaware of additional evidence that

he was not made aware of until after his conviction. The evidence that the Petitioner did not have access to was material to his case and Petitioner should have been made aware of this evidence. Moreover, plea counsel made Petitioner's mother feel as though he was not prepared for the Petitioner's trial and that Petitioner would likely be convicted and go to prison for thirty (30) years. At the PCR hearing the Petitioner's mother testified:

Q You heard him testify that he was forced into pleading guilty based off of conversations with you and his attorney; is that correct?

A Yes, Sir.

Q Any why is that?

A Like I said earlier, I'm not sure if I called Mr. Bailey or Mr. Bailey called me. All I know, we were in a conversation about Venable case, and he did ask me to come to Columbia to talk with Venable to take the plea. He also told me that he felt as though Venable probably didn't have a chance because, with the victim walked in, the jury will look at the victim. App. Transcript Pg 26 lines 8-21

Q Okay. And so getting back to the day before day in court, was it your understanding the week before the guilty plea that your son was going to go to trial?

A Well, before I – before I came here – no, that was the day I came for him to ask him to please take the plea. I sat and I talked with Mr. – Mr. Bailey for quite some time, and my belief and how I felt about our conversation was he wasn't in favor of my son because it was all about the victim. Because, like, I went to the bond hearing twice; the victim changed his story. I mentioned that to Mr. Bailey. But he still made me feel on the inside Venable didn't have a chance.

App. 86, l. 8-25. 87, l. 1-25.

Finally, Petitioner's case was prejudiced by the process the investigators used to identify him. Plea counsel testified himself that "the (victim) could have been susceptible to coaching..."

App. 134, l. 16-17. Again, Petitioner believes the evidence the police used to arrest him was insufficient probable cause and therefore his arrest was unconstitutional.

Plea counsel failed to ensure Petitioner was fully aware of the State's case against him, pressured Petitioner's mother into convincing Petitioner to plead guilty and failed to object to or

challenge the process in which the Petitioner was identified. Consequently, Petitioner did not and could not make a “voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to” him at the time of the plea. See *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 56.

Because Petitioner did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily plead guilty, this Court should reverse his conviction and sentence and remand for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully requests this Court grant the petition for writ of certiorari and order full briefing on the issue presented. Petitioner ultimately requests this Court reverse his conviction and sentence and remand for a new trial.