STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Feb 12 2021

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Richland County
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Post-Conviction Relief Judge
The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Plea Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000755

Venable Deon Mitchell,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

LINDSEY A. MCCALLISTER
Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar #79054

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly entered into, the record must establish the applicant had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969); Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991). A defendant’s knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and “may be accomplished by colloquy between the court and defendant, between the court and defendant’s counsel, or both.” Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 34, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (2000) (citing State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993)). “[T]he voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of the specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry

of the guilty plea and the record of the post-conviction hearing.” Harres v. Leeke, 282 S.C. 131, 133, 318 S.E.2d 360, 361 (1984). In determining guilty plea issues, it is proper to consider the guilty plea transcript as well as evidence presented at the PCR hearing. Harres, 282 S.C. at 133, 318 S.E.2d at 361. However, statements made during a guilty plea should be considered conclusive, unless an applicant presents valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements. Crawford v. United States, 519 F.2d 347 (4th Cir. 1975), overruled on other grounds by United States v. Whitley, 759 F.2d 327 (4th Cir. 1985).

Certiorari must be denied because there is ample evidence of probative value in the record to support the post-conviction relief court’s findings that Petitioner failed to establish that counsel was constitutionally ineffective and that his plea was not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered.

Notably, all of the issues Petitioner raises relate to the PCR court’s factual findings; in this case, Petitioner is not arguing the PCR incorrectly interpreted or applied some aspect of the law. Rather, Petitioner simply disagrees with the PCR court’s findings regarding deficiency and prejudice. However, the PCR court properly considered the record in its entirety, listened to the evidence and arguments presented at the PCR hearing, and determined Petitioner did not meet his burden of establishing counsel was constitutionally ineffective. Sellner, 416 S.C. at 611, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (“In addressing the adequacy of a PCR applicant’s guilty plea, it is proper to consider both the guilty plea transcript and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing.”). These findings are supported by ample probative evidence in the record and not premised on an error of law, and thus, they are entitled to “great deference” on appeal. Id. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (“This Court gives great deference to the factual findings of the PCR court and will uphold them if there is any evidence of probative value to support them.”).

Petitioner alleges Counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to communicate and advise Petitioner of the State’s evidence against him, pressuring Petitioner’s mother to convince

Petitioner to plead guilty, and failing to challenge the identification of Petitioner as the perpetrator, all of which lead Petitioner to enter his guilty plea unknowingly and involuntarily. At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner identified three main issues he claims Counsel did not appropriately disclose or advise him about, and which he only discovered after he received a full copy of his discovery from Counsel after the entry of his guilty plea: (1) video from street cameras in the area of the shooting; (2) the victim's text messages; and (3) problems with the identification of Petitioner as the perpetrator. Additionally, Petitioner argues his guilty plea was not voluntarily entered because Counsel inappropriately "forced" Petitioner's mother to pressure Petitioner into accepting the plea.

Both Petitioner and his mother testified at the evidentiary hearing, and Petitioner introduced numerous exhibits to support his contentions regarding Counsel's failure to advise Petitioner of the full evidence in the case and prepare appropriate challenges that evidence. App. p. 63. However, the PCR court expressly stated it found this testimony not to be credible, and it reviewed all of the evidence in conjunction with the record from the guilty plea in denying Petitioner's request for relief. App. pp. 167-68. As discussed above, these credibility findings are entitled to great deference on appeal. Thompson v. State, 423 S.C. 235, 247, 814 S.E.2d 487, 493 (2018) ("[W]e defer to the PCR court's credibility findings as to witnesses who testified before the PCR court. . . ."); Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012) ("The PCR court's findings on matters of credibility are given great deference by this Court."). Because Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof as to either deficiency or prejudice on any of these issues, the PCR court correctly denied relief, and this Court should deny certiorari.

- A. There is ample probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding Counsel conducted a thorough investigation and properly reviewed the evidence and possible defenses with Petitioner prior to Petitioner's decision to enter a guilty.

First, Petitioner claims the discovery revealed there were videos captured by street cameras in the area of the shooting, which Counsel had previously told Petitioner did not exist. App. pp. 144. However, the PCR court found Counsel credibly testified the email Petitioner points to as proof of this claim did not contain video attachments, but simply a log that Counsel needed to interpret still photos. App. pp. 104-05, 156, 160. Counsel testified there was one video of a dark SUV in the area, but the State never alleged that vehicle was involved in this incident, and it did not appear to be related to the shooting or in any way exculpatory for Petitioner. App. pp. 106-07, 156. Moreover, Petitioner did not produce any videos or present the testimony of any witness to confirm other videos in fact exist as Petitioner claims. App. pp. 63, 160-61. For this reason alone, the PCR court properly denied relief on this claim because without such evidence Petitioner cannot prove prejudice. See Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 513, 511 S.E.2d 62, 66 (1999) (finding trial counsel not ineffective for failing to timely request discovery because the contents of the documents were not presented at the PCR hearing); Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 334, 496 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1998) (holding trial counsel's failure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to the result).

Petitioner also alleges he was unaware of the existence of the victim's cell phone records, including a text message which Petitioner claims is "evidence that the person who sent [the message] to the victim potentially had knowledge of someone who had a motive to shoot the victim." App. pp. 144. However, Petitioner did not present testimony from the sender of the message or offer anything other than his speculation as to what the message might mean. App.

pp. 63, 161. Additionally, as Counsel pointed out, the text message in question was sent a month prior to the shooting. App. p. 115. Counsel testified he investigated the text messages and tried to find names to match to phone numbers, but he felt this text was too remote in time and subject matter to be relevant, and he did not consider it for a possible defense. App. pp. 114-15, 119-20.

The PCR court also found Counsel credibly testified he engaged a private investigator to look into Petitioner's alleged alibi or potential third-party perpetrator, but neither defense could never be proven. App. pp. 93-94, 162-63. The PCR court specifically found Counsel was in no way deficient in conducting an investigation, and Petitioner did not present any evidence to support his claim that these texts messages or other alleged defenses (like an alibi) were viable but did not come to fruition because of Counsel's inadequate performance. App. pp. 63, 162. See Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 385-86, 629 S.E.2d 353, 357 (2006), abrogated on other grounds by Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018) (citing Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 334, 496 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1998)) (holding an applicant's mere speculation as to what further investigation might have revealed is insufficient to support a finding of ineffective assistance)). Accordingly, the PCR properly found Petitioner failed to meet his burden as to deficiency or prejudice regarding Counsel's investigation into the State's evidence, possible defenses, and in giving his opinion and explanation of the merits of the case to Petitioner. See Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996) (where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel's performance should not be found ineffective).

Thirdly, according to Petitioner's interpretation of events, the record shows the victim's mother identified him by picking his photograph out of a group of pictures, and Petitioner argues Counsel should have challenged the identification because the incident report says the victim's parents did not see anything before or after the shooting because they were in bed asleep. App.

pp. 145. However, Petitioner acknowledged the victim himself wrote Petitioner's name down when giving his statement to investigators, but Petitioner characterized the victim's statement as "illegible," and stated he did not understand how it could be used for an arrest warrant. App. pp. 77-78.

Counsel, on the other hand, explained that although law enforcement used an unusual procedure for identifying the alleged shooter in this case because the victim was unable to see or speak due to his injuries, the victim himself ultimately named Petitioner as the perpetrator. App. pp. 95-96, 103-04, 132-33. According to Counsel, the victim wrote Petitioner's name as the assailant, and then the victim's mother identified Petitioner's photograph as the person she knew by that name. App. pp. 95-96, 104. Counsel testified he watched the videotape of the interview and identification procedure multiple times and reviewed the victim's written statement with Petitioner's name on it, and in his opinion, the name is clearly that of Petitioner.² App. pp. 96, 102-04, 135. Counsel also stated he and Petitioner reviewed the piece of paper together and discussed it. App. pp. 103-04.

Further, Counsel explained he felt the identification issue was subject to challenge and stated he would have done that at trial. App. pp. 97, 134-35. The PCR court found Counsel's testimony he prepared a defense based on challenging the victim's memory of the events, including whether the victim's mother had influenced the identification, to be credible. App. pp. 96-99, 163. Thus, the record reflects Petitioner was clearly aware of this potential defense, but, as discussed more fully below, instead of proceeding to trial, he freely and voluntarily chose to enter a guilty plea instead. App. pp. 101-02. In fact, at the beginning of the plea hearing, Counsel explicitly told the plea court Petitioner was entering the plea in order to avail himself of the State's ten-year offer,

² The PCR court also reviewed the statement and agreed with Counsel's assessment. App. p. 165.

despite the fact Petitioner believed he had a defense. App. p. 6. The PCR court found Counsel's testimony and analysis of this issue credible, while also finding Petitioner's testimony not credible, and accordingly denied relief. App. pp. 162-63, 167.

In this case, Petitioner insists witnesses and evidence which would exonerate him exist, but he has presented no such evidence or witnesses. Moreover, much of the evidence he *did* present at the evidentiary hearing simply does not support what Petitioner's interpretation of what it means or shows. The PCR court viewed all of this evidence, observed the witnesses and weighed their credibility, and found Petitioner's version of events was not credible. App. pp. 157-59. All of these findings are amply supported by the record and entitled to deference on appeal. See Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 589, 518 S.E. 265, 267 (1999) ("Where matters of credibility are involved, this Court gives great deference to a judge's findings, because this Court lacks the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses."). Because the PCR court properly denied relief on these issues, this Court should deny certiorari.

B. There is ample probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding Petitioner knowingly, intelligently, voluntarily entered a guilty plea in order to avail himself of the State's plea offer of ten years and avoid a potential thirty year sentence if convicted at trial.

Finally, Petitioner argues Counsel inappropriately pressured Petitioner's mother to coerce Petitioner into accepting the State's plea offer. However, the PCR court reviewed both the plea hearing transcript and weighed the credibility of the witnesses at the evidentiary hearing, including that of both Petitioner and Petitioner's mother, and determined Petitioner's contention he entered his plea involuntarily was refuted by the combined record. App. pp. 157, 167-68; see Foye, 335 S.C. at 589, 518 S.E.2d at 267 (noting appellate courts give "great deference to a [PCR court's] findings" because the PCR court has "the opportunity to directly observe the [PCR] witnesses").

To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly entered into, the record must establish the applicant had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969); Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991). A defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and "may be accomplished by colloquy between the court and defendant, between the court and defendant's counsel, or both." Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 34, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (2000) (citing State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993)). In determining guilty plea issues, it is proper to consider the guilty plea transcript as well as evidence presented at the PCR hearing. Harris v. Leeke, 282 S.C. 131, 318 S.E.2d 360 (1984). Because a guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual, an applicant's right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed. Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63 (1977). Statements made during a guilty plea should be considered conclusive, unless an applicant presents valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements. Crawford v. U.S., 519 F.2d 347 (4th Cir. 1975) overruled on other grounds by U.S. v. Whitley, 759 F.2d 327 (4th Cir. 1985).

Both Petitioner and Counsel agreed Petitioner's mother indeed traveled from Charleston to speak to Petitioner about whether to accept the State's plea offer. App. pp. 68, 109-10, 124. Although Petitioner and his mother testified Petitioner accept the plea offer because they felt Counsel "was not on [Petitioner's] side" and not prepared for trial, Counsel testified he spoke to Petitioner's mother about the offer and told her he thought they had a good case, but the victim was very sympathetic and he was concerned Petitioner's anger was going to come across to the jury. App. pp. 81-82, 87-88, 98-100, 109. Counsel stated he explained the outcome would come down to whether a jury believed Petitioner or the victim more. App. p. 123. According to Counsel,

Petitioner's mother then told *him* that Petitioner was going to accept the offer, and *she* wanted to talk to Petitioner about it. App. pp. 109-100, 123-24 (emphasis added). Counsel testified he arranged a meeting at the jail with between himself, Petitioner, and Petitioner's mother. App. p. 110. Counsel testified after she spoke with Petitioner one-on-one, Petitioner indicated he wished to accept the plea offer. App. p. 110. Counsel stated he thought Petitioner was smart to do so, which he conveyed to Petitioner and Petitioner's mother, but he did not pressure Petitioner to agree, nor did he force Petitioner's mother to speak to Petitioner about it. App. pp. 110-11. Counsel stated once Petitioner decided to enter a plea, he never indicated to Counsel he felt pressured and never changed his mind. App. p. 112. Counsel testified he spoke with Petitioner again after the meeting with Petitioner's, and Petitioner still wished to enter the plea. App. pp. 112-13.

The plea transcript confirms Counsel's version of events. The plea court also explained the negotiated ten-year sentence Petitioner would receive, and Petitioner indicated his understanding and informed the court he wished to plead guilty. App. pp. 9-11. The plea court additionally explained to Petitioner his right to a jury trial, to call witnesses, and to put on a defense; Petitioner informed the plea court he understood these rights and wished to waive, *specifically because of the potential maximum sentence he would face at trial*. App. pp. 9-12 (emphasis added). Counsel told the plea court Petitioner was pleading guilty because the State's identification of him as the shooter was strong, and Petitioner did not want to risk a trial *even though he may have had a defense*. App. pp. 5-6 (emphasis added). The record reflects Petitioner informed the plea court he had discussed the charges with his attorney and understood those discussions, he understood the State's evidence against him, and he did not need any more time to speak to Counsel, and he was satisfied with Counsel's advice. App. pp. 13-14. Petitioner affirmed he was pleading guilty freely

and voluntarily and no one had threatened him or made him any promises to get him to do so. App. p. 13-14.

As repeatedly stated in the record at the time of the plea, Petitioner's decision was predicated on the significant reduction in sentence by accepting the plea versus if he should lose at trial. App. pp. 5-6, 11-12, 18. The PCR court found Petitioner chose, freely and voluntarily, after consultation with Counsel and his mother, not to risk a conviction at trial when the State extended a plea offer with a negotiated sentence of ten years. App. pp. 168. The PCR court also found, based on the combined record of the plea transcript and Counsel's credible testimony at the evidentiary hearing, Counsel's was not deficient, nor was Petitioner prejudiced by Counsel's representation. App. p. 168. Because these findings are supported by probative evidence and not based on an error of law, they are entitled to great deference on appeal, and this Court should affirm them and deny certiorari as to this issue.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari and affirm the PCR court's finding Counsel was not constitutionally ineffective. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.